Guide to the Hayes Family Papers

RG 18



Compiled by Joan R. Duffy

1994

409 Prospect Street New Haven, CT 06511 (203) 432-5301 divinity.library@yale.edu

http://web.library.yale.edu/divinity/special-collections

Table of Contents

Collection Overview	3
Requesting Instructions	3
Administrative Information	
Immediate Source of Acquisition	
Conditions Governing Access	
Preferred Citation	4
Processing Information	4
Biographical / Historical	
Scope and Contents	7
Arrangement	9
Collection Contents	10
Series I: Correspondence, 1918-1991, n.d.	. 10
Correspondence of Helen Wolf Hayes	10
Family Corresplondence	10
General Correspondence	. 10
Correspondence of Paul G. Hayes	11
Family Correspondence	11
General Correspondence/Journal	
Correspondence of Elsie Hayes Landstrom	. 13
Family Correspondence	13
General Correspondence	. 13
Correspondence of Lois Anne Hayes Anderson	13
Family Correspondence	13
Series II: Biographical documentation, 1898-1994	14
Paul G. Hayes	14
Helen Wolf Hayes	17
Elsie Hayes Landstrom and Norman Landstrom	17
Series III: Writings, 1907-1991	18
Paul G. Hayes	18
Helen Wolf Hayes	18
Elsie Hayes Landstrom	. 19
Series IV: Personal items and emmorabilia	20
Paul G. Hayes	20
Helen Wolf Hayes	20
Zachariah T. Hayes (father of PGH)	21
Series V: Photograph albums, 1890-1949	22
Selected Search Terms	23

Collection Overview

REPOSITORY: Yale Divinity Library

409 Prospect Street New Haven, CT 06511 (203) 432-5301

divinity.library@yale.edu

http://web.library.yale.edu/divinity/special-collections

CALL NUMBER: RG 18

CREATOR: Hayes, Paul G.

TITLE: Hayes Family papers

DATES: 1888-2005

PHYSICAL DESCRIPTION: 23 linear feet (59 boxes)

LANGUAGE: English

SUMMARY: These papers provide detailed accounts of the life and work of the Hayes

family in China during a turbulent time, as well as documenting their post-China experiences. Paul and Helen Wolf Hayes were missionaries serving under the Methodist Episcopal Church in Wuhu, Anhui (Anhwei) Province and Zhenjiang (Chinkiang), Jiangsu (Kiangsu) Province from 1921 to 1935. Following their return to the United States, Paul Hayes had pastorates in Minnesota and North Dakota. Their daughter, Elsie Hayes Landstrom, was born in China; she wrote and edited various works related to the work of her

parents and other Methodist missionaries.

ONLINE FINDING AID: To cite or bookmark this finding aid, please use the following link: https://

hdl.handle.net/10079/fa/divinity.018

Requesting Instructions

To request items from this collection for use on site, please use the request links in the HTML version of this finding aid, available at https://hdl.handle.net/10079/fa/divinity.018.

Key to the container abbreviations used in the PDF finding aid:

b. box

f. folder

Administrative Information

Immediate Source of Acquisition

Gift of Elsie Hayes Landstrom and Lois Hayes Anderson, 1987.

Conditions Governing Access

The materials are open for research.

Preferred Citation

Hayes Family Papers (RG 18), Special Collections, Yale Divinity School Library.

Processing Information

Place names were modernized in the description, with the name originally used in the collection material or in an older version of the finding aid in parenthesis: e.g. "Beijing (Peking)" or "Benin (Dahomey)".

Biographical / Historical

Chronology of Paul G. Hayes			
1890 September 1	o Born at 558 N. Queen Street, Lancaster, PA. Son of Zachariah T. Hayes (1849 September 17-1901 April 1) and Emma Amelia (Goodman) Hayes (1857 March 17-1919 October 23). One sister, Rhoda Amelia Hayes (1892 September 7-1973 September 25, never married)		
1904-1910	$_{\odot}$ Dropped out of public school to help support mother and sister. Worked as office boy, then bookkeeper, Lebzelter Bending Works, Lancaster, PA		
1907	o First attended the Gospel Mission in Lancaster (predecessor to Union Gospel Mission and Water St. Mission); made decision to dedicate his life to Christ		
1910-1911	o Union Missionary Training Institute, Brooklyn, NY		
1911-1913	o Franklin Marshall Academy, Lancaster, PA		
1913-1917	o Franklin Marshall College, Lancaster, PA: B.A., Phi Beta Kappa, Marshall oration (highest honor)		
1915-1917	o Superintendent, Water Street Mission, Lancaster (reorganized, with others, 1915; started rescue services with Herman Molin, 1917)		
1916-1917	$_{\odot}$ Student pastor, Ross Street Methodist Church, Lancaster (founded, with others, 1916)		
1917 September 8	o Married Mary Elizabeth Zwally (died 1918, flu epidemic)		
1917-1918	o Student Pastor, Linden Methodist Church, Malden, MA		
1917-1920	o Boston University School of Theology, S.T.B.		
1919-1920	o Student Pastor, Fremont Congregational Church, Fremont, NH		
1920-1921	o B.U.S.T. graduate studies toward Ph D.		
1921 August 10	o Sailed for China on the Korea Maru from San Francisco, under the auspices of the Board of Missions of the Methodist Episcopal Church. Met Helen Mae Wolf, Reformed Church missionary, aboard ship		
1921-1922	 Nanking Language School at the University of Nanking 		

Chronology of Paul G. Hayes

cintonology of raul of i	Luyes
1922 June 13	o Married Helen Mae Wolf (1896 November 8-1988 July 19). Children: Elsie Rhoda, born 1923 June 22 at Guling (Kuling), on Lushan, Jiangxi (Kiangsi), China and Lois Anne, born 1931 November 8 at Wuhu, China.
1921-1926	o First term in Wuhu, Anhui (Anhwei), China
1926-1928	⊙ Furlough
1926	○ Union Theological Seminary graduate studies
1927	o Hartford Seminary Foundation, continuing studies toward Ph.D.; completed all but dissertation; took materials to China to write dissertation, but never had the time. Summer pastor at Clinton (CT) Methodist Episcopal Church
1927-1928	o Served at Grace Methodist Episcopal Church, Windsor Locks, CT
1929-1935	○ Second Term in China
1929-1930	○ In Zhenjiang (Chinkiang)
1930-1935	⊙ In Wuhu
1935-1936	o Associate Pastor, Simpson Methodist Church, Minneapolis, MN
1936-1941	o Pastor, Calvary Methodist Church, Minneapolis, MN
1941-1949	o Pastor, McCabe Methodist Church, Bismarck, ND; Member Board of Ministerial Training, Board of Missions, North Dakota Conference, Dean Summer School Ministerial Training, 1947, 1948
1949	o Honorary Doctor of Divinity, University of North Dakota, Grand Forks, with which Wesley College, Fargo, affiliated
1949-1955	o Pastor, First Methodist Church, Albert Lea, MN
1955-1961	O District Superintendent, Minnesota Southeast District
1955-1966	o Directorates of Rochester Methodist Hospital, Rochester, MN; Paul Watkins Memorial Methodist Home, Winona, MN (founded, with others, 1958); Old Frontenac Point Camp, Frontenac, MN; Fellowship Methodist Church, Austin, MN (founded, with others, 1958); Methodist Hospital, Minneapolis (1963-1966)
1961-1970	o Associate Pastor, Lake Harriet Methodist Church, Minnneapolis
1970-1977	$_{\odot}$ Associate Pastor, Hamline United Methodist Church, St. Paul, MN. Retired to work on memoirs (1977)
1987 February 11	o Entered Walker Methodist Residence Health Care Center
1994 March 1	o Died at Walker Methodist Health Care Center

Consolidated from a chronology compiled by Elsie H. Landstrom, 1987 October 30. (See: Box 33, Folder 429)

Chronology of Helen Wolf Hayes

1896 November 8	 Born in Bethlehem, PA. Seventh of fourteen children of Samuel Fackenthal and Ida (Bryan) Wolf.
1920-1921	o Missionary training courses at Hartford Seminary Foundation

Chronology of Helen Wolf Hayes O Lehigh University Extension Courses; taught public school in Nazareth, PA			
1921	 Helen Mae Wolf Missionary Society was formed to support her work in China through the efforts of friends in the St. Andrews Reformed Church in Allentown, PA, where Helen was an active member 		
1921 August 10	o Sailed for China on Korea Maru from San Francisco, under auspices of the Board of Missions of the Reformed Church in the U.S. Met Paul G. Hayes, Methodist missionary, aboard ship.		
1922 June 13	o Married Paul G. Hayes (1890 September 1-1994 March 1). Children: Elsie Rhoda, born 1923 June 22 at Guling (Kuling), on Lushan, Jiangxi (Kiangsi), China and Lois Anne, born 1931 November 8 at Wuhu, China.		
1922	o Transferred to Board of Missions of the Methodist Episcopal Church		
1921-1926	o First term in Wuhu, Anhui (Anhwei), China		
1921-1922	o Studied Chinese at Nanking Language School, University of Nanking		
1926-1928	⊙ Furlough		
1926-1927	 Studied at Columbia University Teachers' College 		
1927-1928	 Studied at Hartford Seminary Foundation 		
1929-1935	o Second Term in China: In China, Helen taught English in the Wuhu Primary School for one year, in the Chinkiang Girls High School for one year and in the Wuhu General Hospital School of Nursing for several years. She held teas and Bible study classes for groups of local women, and conducted a small school for missionary children in her home using the Calvert system for six years. She served as Adviser to the interdenominational Women's Club of Wuhu and helped them open an orphanage, The Hole in The Wall, for girl babies of poor families who otherwise would have been allowed to die.		
1929-1930	o In Zhenjiang (Chinkiang)		
1930-1935	o In Wuhu		
1935-1941	o Northern Minnesota Conference		
1935-1936	o Simpson Methodist Church, Minneapolis		
1936-1941	o Calvary Methodist Church, Minneapolis		
1941-1949	o North Dakota Conference		
1941-1949	o McCabe Methodist Church, Bismarck		
1949-1961	o Minnesota Southeast Conference		
1949-1955	o First Methodist Church, Albert Lea		
1955-1961	o Southeast District, based in Rochester		
1961-1970	o Lake Harriet Methodist Church, Minneapolis		
1970-1977	o Hamline United Methodist Church, St. Paul: In these Conferences of the Methodist Church, where Paul held a number of pastorates, Helen played an active		

Chronology of Helen Wolf Hayes

role in his ministry and church life. She entertained in their home, sang in the choir, did youth work, taught church school and gave talks on China. She held leadership positions in the Minneapolis Branch of the Woman's Foreign Missionary Society, Women's Society of Christian Service, United Church Women and in the PEO and DAR. She served as Secretary of Missionary Projects and of Spiritual Life.

1987 February 11 O Entered Walker Methodist Residence Health Care Center

1988 July 18 O Died at the Walker Residence, Minneapolis, MN

Chronology of Elsie Hayes Landstrom

1923 June 22	$_{\odot}$ Born at Guling (Kuling), on Lushan, Jiangxi (Kiangsi), China, first daughter of Paul G. and Helen Wolf Hayes
1923-1935	$_{\odot}$ Spent first 12 years of life in China; tutored at home by mother according to the Calvert plan
1935-1941	o Attended public schools in Minneapolis, MN; 1941 honors graduate of North High School
1941-1945	o Attended Hamline University, St. Paul, MN as Drew Scholar. B.A., magna cum laude, 1941. English teaching major, Social Science Psychology minors
1945 June 16	o Married Harry V. Hines (divorced 1951)
1945-1946	 Worked in publications research and production at a research bureau in Philadelphia, and briefly on a dictionary compiled at the University of Pennsylvania
1946-1952	$_{\odot}$ Writer/editor for American Friends Service Committee (Quaker relief and service agency) in Philadelphia
1952-1953	o Writer/editor of non-technical materials for Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Lincoln Laboratory
1953 January 21	 Married Norman Landstrom (1913 December 8-1989 October 17), attorney. Children: Peter S. (born 1954 April 21) and Ruth H. (born 1956 November 7)
1953-1976	o Continued writing on a volunteer basis, while devoting the majority of her time to her family. Her projects included writing a monthly newsletter for 7 years, writing and publishing about 50 poems, and providing editorial assistance to others. She taught "First Day School" in the Wellesley Friends Meeting and was a member of the Wider Quaker Fellowship and the Friends Committee on Religion and Psychology. She designed and supervised the building of their home in Conway, MA
1976-1980	○ Senior Editor, The Word Guild, Inc.
1981-1991	$_{\odot}$ Devoted time to many writing projects, including editing the memoirs of her father and Dr. Hyla Watters

Scope and Contents

These papers, dating from 1888 to 1994, provide vivid accounts of the missionary experiences of Paul and Helen Hayes (1921-1935), details of Paul's ministry after returning to the United States, and their family and social lives. Paul and Helen met, as they often quipped, "on a slow boat to China." Although sent under the auspices of different boards, their mutual devotion to mission work, shared theological ideals, and sheer enjoyment of each other's company cemented their relationship. They studied together at the

University of Nanking Department of Missionary Training, dated frequently, and corresponded much while apart. After deciding to unite in marriage, Helen realized that she must transfer her affiliation from the Reformed Church Foreign Mission Board to the Methodist Episcopal Church Foreign Mission Board so that she could serve with her husband. Since the Methodist Board was obligated to pay the costs incurred by the Reformed Board for her service, Helen often teased Paul that she had been "bought and paid for like a Chinese bride." Due to the Depression in the United States, the Methodist Board could no longer support the Hayes' missionary work in China. They were asked to return to the States in 1935 and serve in the Methodist Church, first in Minneapolis, followed by an appointment in North Dakota, and back to Minnesota where they remained for the rest of their lives. Paul "retired" three times, but essentially continued to minister in various capacities until the disabilities associated with advancing age made it impossible.

The CORRESPONDENCE of Series I is valuable for its great detail and completeness. Arranged by main correspondent, the sections are divided by family and general letters. Letters sent by Paul and Helen to their families back home document their voyage to China, experiences with Chinese life, language and customs, their friendship, courtship and subsequent marriage and family life. Letters exchanged between Paul and Helen during their courtship and marriage reveal their deep affection for each other, which endured faithfully through sixty-six years of married life. Weekly correspondence with their adult daughters serves as a dialogue on family matters, ministry, social and political concerns, reminiscences of the past and plans for the future. Both Paul and Helen were attentive to detail in their writing, so their correspondence serves as the most complete record of their missionary service, ministry, and personal lives.

Paul's general correspondence constitutes his self-titled "Journal", consisting of copies of all the letters he sent and received every year from his youth to his death. The letters reveal his stance as a social and peace activist, and include correspondence with organizations to which he offered moral support and financial assistance. He corresponded with such political figures as Presidents Kennedy, Carter, and Reagan, Senators Eugene McCarthy, Hubert Humphrey, Alan Cranston, Edward Kennedy, Wendall Anderson, Walter Mondale, and Rudy Boschwitz, Representative Donald Fraser, and Congressman Martin Sabo. He did not hesitate to give credit where credit was due, or express displeasure over their decisions with which he disagreed. He supported such causes as world hunger, disaster relief, human rights, nuclear disarmament, handgun control, the Democratic Party, the Black Panther Party and gay/lesbian rights in the church. He opposed capital punishment, abortion, drug, alcohol and tobacco use, and mandatory retirement.

Series II, BIOGRAPHICAL DOCUMENTATION, provides a subject-oriented approach to researching the Hayes family. Preserving his original arrangement, the series documents schools attended, mission work, churches served, places lived, trips/vacations taken, and special interests of Paul G. Hayes. While less material is available for Helen Hayes, her Midwest China Oral History Transcript provides valuable insight into her perspective of their China missionary experiences.

Paul Hayes' memoirs are a special attraction of the WRITINGS of Series III. Elsie Hayes Landstrom encouraged him to record these valuable memories and edited the manuscript extensively. It is a very valuable documentary of Paul's entire life. Also of interest are Paul's manuscript sermons, dating from 1907 to 1935 and 1961 to 1983.

Elsie also encouraged her mother to compile her memoirs, but this proved to be a difficult task for Helen, who was busy with duties at home and church and in declining health. Two notebooks, partially filled with her reminiscences, complement her husband's memoirs.

Elsie's talent for writing was discovered at an early age. Although she wrote for pleasure and profit throughout her life, her writings in this series constitute a sampling of her projects dating 1981-1991. They include the memoirs of Dr. Hyla Watters, which she edited, a story of the Hayes family in China, and an account of her return to the place of her birth in China.

Of interest among the family's collected items in Series IV, PERSONAL ITEMS AND MEMORABILIA, are Paul's glass slides of China, Helen's notes for talks she gave on China, and some of Elsie's collected research materials on Wuhu, China.

The photographs in Series V are largely identified.

The Hayes Family Papers are a valuable addition to the China Records Project at the Yale Divinity School Library. They complement other collections of China missionaries, particularly the papers of Albert and Celia Steward (RG 20), with whom they served in China from 1921-1935 and remained lifelong friends.

Arrangement

- I. Correspondence, 1918-1991, n.d.
- II. Biographical Documentation, 1898-1994
- III. Writings, 1907-1991
- IV. Personal Items and Memorabilia, 1888-1981
- V. Photograph Albums, 1890-1949

Collection Contents

Series I: Correspondence, 1918-1991, n.d.

Correspondence in this series is arranged as follows:

Helen Wolf Hayes

Family correspondence (1921-1930)

General correspondence (1921-1932, n.d.)

Paul G. Hayes

Family correspondence (1918-1991, n.d.)

General correspondence/Journal of PGH (1890-1993)

Elsie Hayes Landstrom

Family correspondence (1978-1987)

General correspondence (1985-1989)

Lois Anne Hayes Anderson

Family correspondence (1975-1986)

Correspondence of Helen Wolf Hayes

Family Corresplondence

b. 1, f. 1	From Ida B. Wolf, mother	1930
b. 1, f. 2	To/from Samuel Fackenthal Wolf, father	1923, 1928-1930
b. 1, f. 3	From Clara Wolf, younger sister	1921, 1930
b. 1, f. 4	To/from Elsie Wolf Johnson, older sister	1921, 1930
	From Hannah Johnson Hennerly, niece (sister Elsie's daughter)	1930 Jun
b. 1, f. 5	From Fred Wolf, brother	1929 Nov
b. 1, f. 6	From Paul Wolf, brother	1929 Nov, 1930 Jan
b. 1, f. 7	To Rollin Wolf, brother	1929-1932
b. 1, f. 8	From Samuel Wolf, younger brother	1929-1930
Gene	eral Correspondence	
b. 1, f. 9	Board of Foreign Missions, Reformed Church in the United States	1922 Jan
b. 1, f. 10	Miscellaneous - A	1921, n.d.
b. 1, f. 11	Miscellaneous - D, F	1921
b. 1, f. 12	Miscellaneous - H, I	1921
b. 1, f. 13	Miscellaneous - K	1921
b. 1, f. 14	Miscellaneous - M, N, O, P	1921, n.d.
b. 1, f. 15	Miscellaneous - R	1921
b. 1, f. 16	Miscellaneous - S	1921

Correspondence of Helen Wolf Hayes > General Correspondence (continued)

b. 1, f. 17	Miscellaneous - U, W	1921–1922, 1929, n.d.
b. 1, f. 18	Miscellaneous - first names only	1921-1922
b. 1, f. 19	thm:miscellaneous-group letters (incl. from friends at Kennedy School of Missions)	1921-1922
Correspon	ndence of Paul G. Hayes	
Fam	ily Correspondence	
b. 2, f. 20	To/from Emma A. Hayes, mother	1918 Oct-1919 Mar
b. 2, f. 21-22	From Rhoda Hayes, sister (incl. re. illness and death of mother, 1919 Sep-Oct)	1918–1920, 1929, 1932, 1934, n.d.
b. 2, f. 23-36	To/from Helen Wolf Hayes, wife	1921-1931
b. 3, f. 37-52	To/from Helen Wolf Hayes, wife	1932-1961, 1972, 1976, 1981
b. 4, f. 53	To/from Elsie Rhoda and Lois Anne Hayes, daughters (childhood letters)	1930-1934, n.d.
b. 4, f. 54-77	PGH HWH to Elsie R. Hayes Landstrom and Lois Anne Hayes Anderson, daughters (see also: "Journal" of PGH for additional correspondence)	1971, 1974-1980
b. 5, f. 78-106	PGH HWH to Elsie R. Hayes Landstrom and Lois Anne Hayes Anderson, daughters	1981-1988
b. 6, f. 107	PGH HWH to/from Peter Landstrom, grandson	1976-1984
b. 6, f. 108	PGH HWH to/from Ruth Landstrom Weber, granddaughter	1970-1984
b. 6, f. 109	PGH HWH to/from Catherine Anderson Sullivan, granddaughter	1976-1984
b. 6, f. 110	PGH HWH to/from Lori Anderson Stephens, granddaughter	1977-1986
b. 6, f. 111	PGH HWH to/from Julie Anderson Murray, granddaughter	1977-1987
b. 6, f. 112	To grandchildren	1990 Sep, 1991 Apr
b. 6, f. 113	PGH HWH: "Round Robin" letters to family	1931-1932, 1945-1946, 1965
b. 6, f. 114	Christmas letters to family friends	1960-1978, 1983
Gen	eral Correspondence/Journal	
b. 7 , f. 115	"Journal" of PGH; Diary, "Year by Year Notes on Personal Experiences and Family Events"	1890-1912
b. 7 , f. 116-117	"Journal" of PGH / "A Line A Day" diaries	1906-1910, 1911-1915, 1916-1920, 1921-1925

Correspondence of Paul G. Hayes > General Correspondence/Journal (continued)

b. 8, f. 118	"Journal" of PGH / 6 bound diaries, typewritten	1923 Jun 1-1931 Jun 1
b. 9, f. 119	"Journal" of PGH / 4 bound volumes of correspondence	1931 Jun 1-1935 Jun 1
b. 10, f. 120	"Journal" of PGH / Correspondence files - letter from Japanese Consulate	1933 Jun
b. 10, f. 121-142	"Journal" of PGH / Correspondence files - general	1935 May-1940
b. 11, f. 143-147	[incl. leaving Calvary Church (MN) and moving to McCabe Church (Bismarck, ND)]	1941
b. 11, f. 148-151	Correspondence	1942
b. 11, f. 152-154	Correspondence	1943
b. 11, f. 155-157	[incl. re. Mother Wolf's death, Jan 14]	1944
b. 12, f. 158-173	Correspondence	1945-1948
b. 13, f. 174-177	[incl. re. beginning of Albert Lea pastorate, Jul 10]	1949
b. 13, f. 178-189	Correspondence	1950-1952
b. 14, f. 190-193	[incl. re Elsie Hayes' marriage to Norman Landstrom, Jan 21; Lois Anne Hayes' marriage to Jay Anderson, May 30; Rhoda Hayes' operation for brain tumor, Dec 17]	1953
b. 14, f. 194-197	[incl. re. birth of Peter Landstrom, Apr 21]	1954
b. 14, f. 198-201	[incl. re. appointment as Superintendent of the Southeastern District of the Minnesota Annual Conference of the Methodist Church, Jun 11]	1955
b. 14, f. 202-205	[incl. re. birth of Ruth Landstrom, Nov 7]	1956
b. 14, f. 206-207	[incl. re. birth of Cathy Anderson, May 14]	1957 Jan-Jun
b. 15, f. 208-213	Correspondence	1957 Jul-1958
b. 15, f. 214-217	[incl. re. birth of Lori Anderson, Mar 15]	1959
b. 15, f. 218-223	Correspondence	1960-1961 Jun
b. 16, f. 224-225	[incl. re. birth of Julie Anderson, Sep 13]	1961 Jul-Dec
b. 16, f. 226-229	Correspondence	1962
b. 16, f. 230-233	[incl. list of humorous incidents in the ministry of PGH]	1963
b. 16, f. 234-241	Correspondence	1964-241
b. 16, f. 234-241 b. 17, f. 242-257	Correspondence Correspondence	1964-241 1966-1970
	·	

Correspondence of Paul G. Hayes > General Correspondence/Journal (continued)

b. 20, f. 288-299	Correspondence	1977 Sep-1980 Mar
b. 21, f. 300-310	Correspondence	1980 Apr-1982 Jun
b. 22, f. 311-321	Correspondence	1982 Jul-1983
b. 23, f. 322-330	Correspondence	1984-1985 Apr
b. 24, f. 331-338	Correspondence	1985 May-1986
b. 25, f. 339-345	Correspondence incl. invitation to inauguration of President Bill Clinton Vice-President Albert Gore	1987-1993
	Correspondence of Elsie Hayes Landstrom	
	Family Correspondence	
b. 26, f. 346-358	To Paul and Helen Hayes, parents, incl. documentation of trip to China	1978-1985
b. 27, f. 359-360	To Paul and Helen Hayes, parents	1986
b. 27, f. 361	To/from Jay Anderson, brother-in-law	1982 Mar-Apr
b. 27, f. 362	From Cathy Anderson Sullivan	1979-1986
b. 27, f. 363	From Lori Anderson Stephens	1978-1987
b. 27, f. 364	From Julie Anderson Murray	1978-1986
	General Correspondence	
b. 27, f. 365	Miscellaneous	1985-1989
	Correspondence of Lois Anne Hayes Anderson	
	Family Correspondence	
b. 27, f. 366	To Paul and Helen Hayes, parents	1980, 1986
b. 27, f. 367-369	To Elsie Hayes Landstrom, sister	1975-1986

Series II: Biographical documentation, 1898-1994

Material in this series is arranged as follows:

Subject File of Paul G. Hayes, arranged alphabetically by topic or organization (1898-1994, n.d.) Biographical material on Helen Wolf Hayes, chronologically arranged (1920-1988) Biographical material on Elsie Hayes Landstrom and Norman Landstrom, chronologically arranged (1980, 1989)

Paul G. Hayes

b. 28, f. 370-371	Albert Lea (MN) United Methodist Church	1949-1982
b. 28, f. 372	Birthday celebrations (99th, 100th,101st)	1989-1991
b. 28, f. 373	Bismarck, North Dakota (city of)	1947-1955
b. 28, f. 374	Bismarck (ND) High School - Bible Class	1942-1943, 1947-1948
b. 28, f. 375	Boston University School of Theology - Bulletin	1919-1920
b. 28, f. 376	Boston University School of Theology - Diploma, Thesis, Class Papers	1920
b. 28, f. 377-379	Boston University School of Theology - Miscellaneous	1916-1921, 1931, 1938-1963, 1978-1982
b. 29, f. 380-382	Calvary Methodist Church	1933-1943, 1960-1961, 1969-1974, 1978
b. 29 , f. 383	Columbia University - Chinese language study - grade report	1926-1927
b. 29, f. 384	Conference Course Study (Methodist Church)	1939-1941
b. 29, f. 385	Cost of Living (summaries of travel living expenses)	1934-1935, 1967-1973
b. 29, f. 386	Death - Correspondence re. funeral/burial arrangements	1988, n.d.
b. 29, f. 387	Death - Last Will and Testament	1990 Oct 12
b. 29, f. 388	Death certificate, obituary notices	1994 Mar
b. 29, f. 389	Death - Correspondence letters of condolence after death (addressed to LAHA)	1994 Mar
b. 29, f. 390	Duke St. Methodist Church (Lancaster, PA)	1907-1966, 1982
b. 29, f. 391	Employment (early opportunities)	1911-1920
b. 29, f. 392	European trips	1926, 1932-1933
b. 29, f. 393	Excelsior United Methodist Church (Excelsior, MN)	1970-1971
b. 29, f. 394	Fiftieth Wedding Anniversary celebration (invitation)	1972 Jun 25
b. 29, f. 395	First Methodist Episcopal Church (Lancaster, PA)	1904-1920

Paul G. Hayes (continued)

b. 29, f. 396	Franklin Marshall Academy	1906, 1911-1913, 1938, 1979-1980
b. 29, f. 397	Franklin Marshall College - letter of acceptance, YMCA SVM materials, class papers, announcement of PGH as winner of State Prize in WCTU College Essay Contest	1913-1916
b. 30, f. 398	Franklin Marshall College - graduation materials, Marshall Oration (PGH as speaker at Commencement)	1917
b. 30, f. 399	Franklin Marshall College - post-graduation materials; alumni materials	1917, 1919,1942- 1989
b. 30, f. 400	Franklin Marshall College - Catalogue	1917-1918
b. 30, f. 401	Franklin Marshall College- Student Weekly (selected issues)	1915-1917
b. 30, f. 402	Fremont (NH) United Congregational Church	1920 May-1921 Mar
b. 30, f. 403	General Board of Global Ministries, U.M.C.	1989 Jun-Nov
b. 30, f. 403	Greenwood Cemetery (Allentown, PA)(re. burial site grave markers)	
b. 30, f. 404	Hamline United Methodist Church (St. Paul, MN) (PGH's tenure as Associate Minister, 1970 Nov 12 - 1977 Jun 12) correspondence, reports, directories	1971-1980, 1983
b. 30, f. 405	Hamline United Methodist Churchphotos of new members	1968-1977
b. 30, f. 406	Hartford Seminary Foundation, Kennedy School of Missions (HWH-1921, PGH-1928)	1927-1928, 1934, 1950, 1970, 1972
b. 30, f. 407	Hayes, Mary Zwally (PGH's first wife: married 1917 Sep 8; died 1918 Oct 13)	1917-1918
b. 31, f. 408	"Heroes" (persons admired by PGH) (incl. Martin Luther King, Jr., Frank C. Laubach, Pope John XXIII, Methodist Bishop D. Stanley Coors, Norman Thomas, Pierre Teilhard de Chardin)	n.d.
b. 31, f. 409	Hu Shih, "My Credo Its Evolution", reprinted from The Forum	1931 Jan-Feb
b. 31, f. 410	Kuling American School - "Lushan Memories", compiled by Paul Sheretz	1985 Sep
b. 31, f. 411-412	Lake Harriet United Methodist Church (Minneapolis, MN) Adult Bible Class	1967-1979
b. 31, f. 413	Lake Harriet United Methodist - Church Reports by PGH	1961-1989
b. 31, f. 414	Lake Harriet United Methodist Church - Pastor-Parish Relations	1961-1970
b. 31, f. 415	Lancaster, PA [note by PGH: See also page in Album #1]	1898,1946, 1969,1977, n.d.
b. 31, f. 416	Linden Methodist Episcopal Church (Malden, MA)	1918–1919, 1940,1960, 1969, 1975
b. 31, f. 417	The Linguist (published by the students of the Nanking Language School, Univ. of Nanking)	1921-1923

Paul G. Hayes (continued)

b. 32 , f. 418	Liu, I Hsin	1956, 1971, 1973, 1978
b. 32, f. 419-420	McCabe Methodist Church (Bismarck, ND)	1941-1949, 1959, 1976, 1979
b. 32, f. 421-422	Memoirs of PGH (actual ms. in Series III): biographical materials	1978-1979, n.d.
b. 32, f. 423	Memoirs of PGH - notes on ms. by EHL	1982
b. 32, f. 424	Methodist Episcopal Church, Board of Foreign Missions	1911-1921
b. 32, f. 425	Methodist Ministry - PGH's 50th 60th anniversary celebrations	1967, 1977
b. 32, f. 426	Midwest China Study Resource Center, Oral History Archives Project: correspondence	1977-1978
b. 32, f. 427	Midwest China Study Resource Center, Oral History Archives Project: transcript of PGH [copyright restrictions detailed in preface]	1977 Mar
b. 32, f. 428	Minnesota	1936-1982
b. 33, f. 429	Miscellaneous [incl. chronologies and biographical notes by PGH and EHL]	1908-1990
b. 33, f. 430	Nanking Language School	1921-1922
b. 33, f. 431	New York Hartford	1926-1928
b. 33, f. 432	Newspaper clippings on Hayes family	1899-1935, n.d.
b. 33, f. 433	North Dakota	1917-1948
b. 33, f. 434	Phi Beta Kappa (election of PGH)	1917,1972, 1980, 1984
b. 33, f. 435	Philadelphia Annual Conference of the Methodist Episcopal Church	1916-1917, 1920
b. 33, f. 436	Prohibition Temperance	1914-1916
b. 33, f. 437	Public schools attended	1897-1910
b. 33, f. 438-439	Roberts, Oral - Evangelistic Association University	1976-1980, n.d.
b. 33, f. 440	Resurrection (writings on)	1934, 1971
	- Nobuli Collon (Williams only	1754, 1771
b. 34, f. 441	Rochester, MN	1950-1984
b. 34, f. 441 b. 34, f. 442	<u> </u>	
	Rochester, MN	1950-1984
b. 34, f. 442	Rochester, MN Ross Street Church	1950-1984 1916-1973
b. 34, f. 442 b. 34, f. 443	Rochester, MN Ross Street Church Shelton College (Ringwood, NJ)	1950-1984 1916-1973 1956, 1966
b. 34, f. 442 b. 34, f. 443 b. 34, f. 444	Rochester, MN Ross Street Church Shelton College (Ringwood, NJ) Simpson United Methodist Church (Minneapolis, MN): miscellaneous	1950-1984 1916-1973 1956, 1966 1937-1982

Paul G. Hayes (continued)

b. 34, f. 449 Travel Around the World 1978, n.d. b. 34, f. 450 Travels in the U.S.A. 1955-1979 b. 35, f. 451 Travels - Record of journey from Shanghai to New York (duplicated in PGH's Journal) 1935 May 29-Aug 19 b. 35, f. 452 Union Missionary Training Institute 1909-1918 b. 35, f. 453-454 Union Theological Seminary 2a.1940s-1950s b. 35, f. 455 Universal Military Training ca.1940s-1950s b. 35, f. 456-458 Walker Methodist Residence and Health Services, Inc. (Minneapolis, MN) [1983, 1986-1989, n.d. b. 35, f. 459-461 Water Street Mission 1909-1919, 1950-1985 b. 36, f. 462-463 Water Street Mission - "Messenger" (monthly newsletter) 1947-1979 b. 36, f. 464 Watkins Home 1970-1983 b. 36, f. 465 Windsor Locks, CT: Grace Methodist Episcopal Church 1928 b. 36, f. 466 Windsor Locks, CT: re. tornado 1979 b. 36, f. 467 Yale Divinity School Library, China Records Project 1970-1979 b. 37, f. 468 Materials re. departure and missionary service in China 1920-1921 b. 37, f. 476 Midwest China Oral History transcript 1970-1972	b. 34, f. 448	Student Volunteers	1914-1915
b. 35, f. 451 Travels - Record of journey from Shanghai to New York (duplicated in PGH's Journal) 1935 May 29 - Aug 19 b. 35, f. 452 Union Missionary Training Institute 1909-1918 b. 35, f. 453-454 Union Theological Seminary 1926-1927, 1938-1979, 1983 b. 35, f. 455-458 Universal Military Training ca1940s-1950s b. 35, f. 456-458 Walker Methodist Residence and Health Services, Inc. (Minneapolis, MN) [incl. re. PGH HWH's admission] 1909-1919, n.d. b. 35, f. 459-461 Water Street Mission 1909-1919, n.d. b. 36, f. 462-463 Water Street Mission - "Messenger" (monthly newsletter) 1947-1979 b. 36, f. 464 Watkins Home 1970-1983 b. 36, f. 465 Windsor Locks, CT: Grace Methodist Episcopal Church 1928 b. 36, f. 465 Windsor Locks, CT: re. tornado 1979 b. 36, f. 466 Wuhu, Anhui (Anhwei), China (memorabilia, correspondence, report on Wuhu Methodist Conference - 1931 April 2) 1970-1979 b. 37, f. 468 Materials re. departure and missionary service in China 1920-1921 b. 37, f. 470 Midwest China Oral History transcript 1977 Apr 27, May 416 b. 37, f. 471 Death - Death certificate materials re. death	b. 34, f. 449	Travel Around the World	1978, n.d.
Dournal Dour	b. 34, f. 450	Travels in the U.S.A.	1955-1979
b. 35, f. 453-454 Union Theological Seminary 1926-1927, 1938-1979, 1983 b. 35, f. 455 Universal Military Training ca.1940s-1950s b. 35, f. 456-458 Walker Methodist Residence and Health Services, Inc. (Minneapolis, MN) [incl. re. PGH HWH's admission] 1993, 1986-1989, n.d. b. 35, f. 459-461 Water Street Mission 1909-1919, 1950-1985 b. 36, f. 462-463 Water Street Mission - "Messenger" (monthly newsletter) 1947-1979 b. 36, f. 464 Watkins Home 1970-1983 b. 36, f. 465 Windsor Locks, CT: Grace Methodist Episcopal Church 1928 b. 36, f. 465 Windsor Locks, CT: re. tornado 1979-1979 b. 36, f. 466 Wuhu, Anhui (Anhwei), China (memorabilia, correspondence, report on Wuhu Methodist Conference - 1931 April 2) 1970-1979 b. 37, f. 468 Materials re. departure and missionary service in China 1920-1921 b. 37, f. 469 Midwest China Oral History transcript 1977 Apr 27, May 416 b. 37, f. 470 "The Life and Ministry of Helen Hayes: Pages from the Memoirs of Her Husband" 1985 Oct 17 b. 37, f. 471 Death - Death certificate materials re. death 1988 Jul b. 37, f. 472 Death - Letters of condolence re. death (ad	b. 35, f. 451		_
b. 35, f. 455 Universal Military Training ca.1940s-1950s b. 35, f. 456-458 Walker Methodist Residence and Health Services, Inc. (Minneapolis, MN) [incl. re. PGH HWH's admission] 1983, 1986-1989, n.d. b. 35, f. 459-461 Water Street Mission 1909-1919, 1950-1918 b. 36, f. 462-463 Water Street Mission - "Messenger" (monthly newsletter) 1947-1979 b. 36, f. 464 Watkins Home 1970-1983 b. 36, f. 465 Windsor Locks, CT: Grace Methodist Episcopal Church 1928 b. 36, f. 465 Windsor Locks, CT: re. tornado 1979 b. 36, f. 466 Wuhu, Anhui (Anhwei), China (memorabilia, correspondence, report on Wuhu Methodist Conference - 1931 April 2) 1920s-1940s b. 37, f. 468 Materials re. departure and missionary service in China 1920-1921 b. 37, f. 469 Midwest China Oral History transcript 1977 Apr 27, May 416 b. 37, f. 470 "The Life and Ministry of Helen Hayes: Pages from the Memoirs of Her Husband" 1985 Oct 17 b. 37, f. 472 Death - Death certificate materials re. death 1988 Jul b. 37, f. 472A Misc. [incl. chronology biographical notes) n.d. Elsie Hayes Landstrom and Norman Landstrom 1980	b. 35, f. 452	Union Missionary Training Institute	1909-1918
b. 35, f. 456-458 Walker Methodist Residence and Health Services, Inc. (Minneapolis, MN) 1983, 1986-1989, n.d.	b. 35, f. 453-454	Union Theological Seminary	
[incl. re. PGH HWH's admission] n.d.	b. 35, f. 455	Universal Military Training	ca.1940s-1950s
b. 36, f. 462-463 Water Street Mission - "Messenger" (monthly newsletter) 1947-1979 b. 36, f. 464 Watkins Home 1970-1983 b. 36, f. 465 Windsor Locks, CT: Grace Methodist Episcopal Church 1928 b. 36, f. 465 Windsor Locks, CT: re. tornado 1979 b. 36, f. 465 Windsor Locks, CT: re. tornado 1979 b. 36, f. 466 Wuhu, Anhui (Anhwei), China (memorabilia, correspondence, report on Wuhu Methodist Conference - 1931 April 2) b. 36, f. 467 Yale Divinity School Library, China Records Project 1970-1979 Helen Wolf Hayes b. 37, f. 468 Materials re. departure and missionary service in China 1920-1921 b. 37, f. 469 Midwest China Oral History transcript 1977 Apr 27, May 416 b. 37, f. 470 "The Life and Ministry of Helen Hayes: Pages from the Memoirs of Her Husband" 1988 Jul b. 37, f. 471 Death - Death certificate materials re. death (addressed to PGH EHL), memorial contributions 1988 b. 37, f. 472 Death - Letters of condolence re. death (addressed to PGH EHL), memorial contributions 1988 contributions 1988 contributions 1980	b. 35, f. 456-458		
b. 36, f. 464 Watkins Home 1970-1983 b. 36, f. 465 Windsor Locks, CT: Grace Methodist Episcopal Church 1928 b. 36, f. 465 Windsor Locks, CT: re. tornado 1979 b. 36, f. 466 Wuhu, Anhui (Anhwei), China (memorabilia, correspondence, report on Wuhu Methodist Conference - 1931 April 2) b. 36, f. 466 Wuhu, Anhui (Shahwei), China Records Project 1970-1979 Helen Wolf Hayes b. 37, f. 468 Materials re. departure and missionary service in China 1920-1921 b. 37, f. 469 Midwest China Oral History transcript 1977 Apr 27, May 416 b. 37, f. 470 "The Life and Ministry of Helen Hayes: Pages from the Memoirs of Her Husband" b. 37, f. 471 Death - Death certificate materials re. death 1988 Jul b. 37, f. 472 Death - Letters of condolence re. death (addressed to PGH EHL), memorial contributions b. 37, f. 472A Misc. [incl. chronology biographical notes) n.d. Elsie Hayes Landstrom and Norman Landstrom Elsie Hayes Landstrom and Norman Landstrom	b. 35, f. 459-461	Water Street Mission	•
b. 36, f. 465 Windsor Locks, CT: Grace Methodist Episcopal Church 1928 b. 36, f. 465 Windsor Locks, CT: re. tornado 1979 b. 36, f. 466 Wuhu, Anhui (Anhwei), China (memorabilia, correspondence, report on Wuhu Methodist Conference - 1931 April 2) b. 36, f. 467 Yale Divinity School Library, China Records Project 1970-1979 Helen Wolf Hayes b. 37, f. 468 Materials re. departure and missionary service in China 1920-1921 b. 37, f. 469 Midwest China Oral History transcript 1977 Apr 27, May 416 b. 37, f. 470 "The Life and Ministry of Helen Hayes: Pages from the Memoirs of Her Husband" b. 37, f. 471 Death - Death certificate materials re. death 1988 Jul b. 37, f. 472 Death - Letters of condolence re. death (addressed to PGH EHL), memorial contributions b. 37, f. 472A Misc. [incl. chronology biographical notes) n.d. Elsie Hayes Landstrom and Norman Landstrom Elsie Hayes Landstrom and Norman Landstrom	b. 36, f. 462-463	Water Street Mission - "Messenger" (monthly newsletter)	1947-1979
b. 36, f. 465 Windsor Locks, CT : re. tornado 1979 b. 36, f. 466 Wuhu, Anhui (Anhwei), China (memorabilia, correspondence, report on Wuhu Methodist Conference - 1931 April 2) b. 36, f. 467 Yale Divinity School Library, China Records Project 1970-1979 Helen Wolf Hayes b. 37, f. 468 Materials re. departure and missionary service in China 1920-1921 b. 37, f. 469 Midwest China Oral History transcript 1977 Apr 27, May 416 b. 37, f. 470 "The Life and Ministry of Helen Hayes: Pages from the Memoirs of Her Husband" 1985 Oct 17 b. 37, f. 471 Death - Death certificate materials re. death 1988 Jul b. 37, f. 472 Death - Letters of condolence re. death (addressed to PGH EHL), memorial contributions b. 37, f. 472A Misc. [incl. chronology biographical notes) n.d. Elsie Hayes Landstrom and Norman Landstrom b. 37, f. 473-474 Curriculum Vitae 1980	b. 36, f. 464	Watkins Home	1970-1983
b. 36, f. 466 Wuhu, Anhui (Anhwei), China (memorabilia, correspondence, report on Wuhu Methodist Conference - 1931 April 2) b. 36, f. 467 Yale Divinity School Library, China Records Project 1970-1979 Helen Wolf Hayes b. 37, f. 468 Materials re. departure and missionary service in China 1920-1921 b. 37, f. 469 Midwest China Oral History transcript 1977 Apr 27, May 416 b. 37, f. 470 "The Life and Ministry of Helen Hayes: Pages from the Memoirs of Her Husband" 1985 Oct 17 b. 37, f. 471 Death - Death certificate materials re. death 1988 Jul b. 37, f. 472 Death - Letters of condolence re. death (addressed to PGH EHL), memorial contributions b. 37, f. 472A Misc. [incl. chronology biographical notes) n.d. Elsie Hayes Landstrom and Norman Landstrom b. 37, f. 473-474 Curriculum Vitae 1980 1980	b. 36, f. 465	Windsor Locks, CT: Grace Methodist Episcopal Church	1928
b. 36, f. 467 Yale Divinity School Library, China Records Project 1970-1979 Helen Wolf Hayes b. 37, f. 468 Materials re. departure and missionary service in China 1920-1921 b. 37, f. 469 Midwest China Oral History transcript 1977 Apr 27, May 4 16 b. 37, f. 470 "The Life and Ministry of Helen Hayes: Pages from the Memoirs of Her Husband" 1985 Oct 17 b. 37, f. 471 Death - Death certificate materials re. death 1988 Jul b. 37, f. 472 Death - Letters of condolence re. death (addressed to PGH EHL), memorial contributions b. 37, f. 472A Misc. [incl. chronology biographical notes) n.d. Elsie Hayes Landstrom and Norman Landstrom b. 37, f. 473-474 Curriculum Vitae 1980	b. 36, f. 465	Windsor Locks, CT: re. tornado	1979
Helen Wolf Hayes b. 37, f. 468 Materials re. departure and missionary service in China 1920-1921 b. 37, f. 469 Midwest China Oral History transcript 1977 Apr 27, May 416 b. 37, f. 470 "The Life and Ministry of Helen Hayes: Pages from the Memoirs of Her Husband" 1985 Oct 17 b. 37, f. 471 Death - Death certificate materials re. death 1988 Jul b. 37, f. 472 Death - Letters of condolence re. death (addressed to PGH EHL), memorial contributions b. 37, f. 472A Misc. [incl. chronology biographical notes) n.d. Elsie Hayes Landstrom and Norman Landstrom b. 37, f. 473-474 Curriculum Vitae 1980	b. 36, f. 466		1920s-1940s
b. 37, f. 468 Materials re. departure and missionary service in China 1920-1921 b. 37, f. 469 Midwest China Oral History transcript 1977 Apr 27, May 4 16 b. 37, f. 470 "The Life and Ministry of Helen Hayes: Pages from the Memoirs of Her Husband" 1985 Oct 17 b. 37, f. 471 Death - Death certificate materials re. death 1988 Jul b. 37, f. 472 Death - Letters of condolence re. death (addressed to PGH EHL), memorial contributions 1988 b. 37, f. 472A Misc. [incl. chronology biographical notes) n.d. Elsie Hayes Landstrom and Norman Landstrom b. 37, f. 473-474 Curriculum Vitae 1980	b. 36, f. 467	Yale Divinity School Library, China Records Project	1970-1979
b. 37, f. 469 Midwest China Oral History transcript 1977 Apr 27, May 416 b. 37, f. 470 "The Life and Ministry of Helen Hayes: Pages from the Memoirs of Her Husband" b. 37, f. 471 Death - Death certificate materials re. death 1988 Jul b. 37, f. 472 Death - Letters of condolence re. death (addressed to PGH EHL), memorial contributions b. 37, f. 472A Misc. [incl. chronology biographical notes) Elsie Hayes Landstrom and Norman Landstrom b. 37, f. 473-474 Curriculum Vitae 1980	Hele	en Wolf Hayes	
b. 37, f. 470 "The Life and Ministry of Helen Hayes: Pages from the Memoirs of Her Husband" b. 37, f. 471 Death - Death certificate materials re. death b. 37, f. 472 Death - Letters of condolence re. death (addressed to PGH EHL), memorial contributions b. 37, f. 472A Misc. [incl. chronology biographical notes) Elsie Hayes Landstrom and Norman Landstrom b. 37, f. 473-474 Curriculum Vitae 1980	b. 37, f. 468	Materials re. departure and missionary service in China	1920-1921
b. 37, f. 471 Death - Death certificate materials re. death 1988 Jul b. 37, f. 472 Death - Letters of condolence re. death (addressed to PGH EHL), memorial contributions 1988 b. 37, f. 472A Misc. [incl. chronology biographical notes) n.d. Elsie Hayes Landstrom and Norman Landstrom b. 37, f. 473-474 Curriculum Vitae 1980	b. 37, f. 469	Midwest China Oral History transcript	• •
b. 37, f. 472 Death - Letters of condolence re. death (addressed to PGH EHL), memorial contributions b. 37, f. 472A Misc. [incl. chronology biographical notes) Elsie Hayes Landstrom and Norman Landstrom b. 37, f. 473-474 Curriculum Vitae 1980	b. 37, f. 470		1985 Oct 17
b. 37, f. 472A Misc. [incl. chronology biographical notes) n.d. Elsie Hayes Landstrom and Norman Landstrom b. 37, f. 473-474 Curriculum Vitae 1980	b. 37, f. 471	Death - Death certificate materials re. death	1988 Jul
Elsie Hayes Landstrom and Norman Landstrom b. 37, f. 473-474 Curriculum Vitae 1980	b. 37, f. 472		1988
b. 37, f. 473-474 Curriculum Vitae 1980	b. 37, f. 472A	Misc. [incl. chronology biographical notes)	n.d.
<u>'</u>	Elsie Hayes Landstrom and Norman Landstrom		
b. 37, f. 475 NL's Obituary, EHL's correspondence re. NL's death 1989 Nov	b. 37, f. 473-474	Curriculum Vitae	1980
	b. 37, f. 475	NL's Obituary, EHL's correspondence re. NL's death	1989 Nov

Series III: Writings, 1907-1991

This series contains the writings of the following members of the Hayes Family:

Articles, newsletters, sermons and memoirs of Paul G. Hayes (1907-1983) Memoirs of Helen Wolf Hayes (1946-1981) Booklength manuscripts of Elsie Hayes Landstrom (1981-1991)

Paul G. Hayes

b. 38, f. 476	Articles for Chinese Recorder (manuscript version)	1929-1932
b. 38, f. 477	Southeast District Newsletters	1955-1961
b. 39A, f. 478	Sermons - #1-150, preached at Water St. Mission, 1907-1916;#151-262, preached at Ross St. Methodist Episcopal Church, 1916-1917;#473-497, preached in China, 1st term, 1921-1926;#498-549, preached on Furlough, 1926-1928; #550-609, preached in China, 2nd term, 1928-1935	1907-1917, 1921-1935
b. 39B, f. 479	Sermons - #2604-2669, preached at Lake Harriet Methodist Church, 1961 Jul 2-1965 May 16; #2670-2726, preached at Lake Harriet Methodist Church, 1965 Aug 1-1970 Jun 21; #2727-2788, preached during "2nd Retirement", 1970 Jun 28-1977 Jun 12; #2789-2817, preached during "3rd Retirement", 1977 Jun 19-1983	1961-1983
b. 39B, f. 480	Sermons - "Make Love Your Aim", a biographical sermon preached by PGH at Lake Harriet Methodist Church on the 50th anniversary of his ministry, 1967 Apr 16; "Christ's Greater Works", preached at Lake Harriet United Methodist Church, 1982 Feb 21	
b. 41, f. 484	Memoirs (edited by Elsie Hayes Landstrom)	1981
b. 41, f. 484	Vol. I: Lancaster to China, 1890-1926	
b. 41, f. 485	Vol. II: Furlough Years, 1926-1928	
b. 41, f. 486	Vol. III: Second Term in China, 1928-1935	
b. 42, f. 487	Vol. IV: Return to America, 1935-1941	
b. 42, f. 488	Vol. V: Eight Years in Bismarck, 1941-1949	
b. 42, f. 489	Vol. VI-A: Six Years in Albert Lea, 1949-1955	
b. 43, f. 490	Vol. VI-B: Six Years in Albert Lea, 1949-1955	
b. 43 , f. 491	Vol. VII: Six Years in Rochester, 1955-1961	
b. 43 , f. 492	Vol. VIII-A: Nine Years at Lake Harriet, 1961-1970	
b. 44, f. 493	Vol. VIII-B: Nine Years at Lake Harriet, 1961-1970	
b. 44, f. 494	Vol. IX: Seven Years at Hamline, 1970-1977 and Final Retirement, 1977	
b. 45, f. 495	Complete draft, unbound	
Helen Wolf Hayes		
b. 40, f. 481-482	Memoirs: "Memories of China, 1921-1935"	written 1946, 1953, 1979

Helen Wolf Hayes (continued)

b. 40, f. 483	Memoirs: Early years and Wolf family	written ca. 1981
Elsie	e Hayes Landstrom	
b. 46, f. 496	"With Kindness in His Hands: The Story of My Father, Paul G. Hayes" (2 vols.)	1982
b. 47, f. 497	"The Welcoming Pine: Journal of a Return"	1983
b. 47 , f. 498 a	"Closing the Circle"	1985
b. 47, f. 498b	"News of Dr. Jing Li for You Who Made his Trip Possible" - 19 pp. essay about visit of Dr. Jing Li to U.S.	1982
b. 48, f. 499	"Story of Wuhu Hospital" "Report of Jing Li Tour" (1 bound vol.), "Wuhu General Hospital, 1889-1949"	1981, 1982, 1989
b. 48, f. 500	"Hyla Doc" (1st draft ms.; published in 1991 as <i>Hyla Doc: Surgeon in China Through War and Revolution, 1924-1949</i> , ed. by EHL)	n.d.
b. 48, f. 501	Various notes, correspondence, drafts re. writings	1985, 1987,

Series IV: Personal items and emmorabilia

This series contains materials relating to and/or collected by the following members of the Hayes Family:

Paul G. Hayes (1888-1989, n.d.) Helen Wolf Hayes (1921-1970, n.d.) Zachariah T. Hayes (father of PGH) (1889, 1893) Elsie Hayes Landstrom (1932-1989, n.d.)

Paul G. Hayes

b. 49, f. 504 Guest books 192 193	
193	88, 1892
197	22-1934, 36,1949, 72,1955, 1977
b. 49, f. 505 Library list n.d	d.
b. 49, f. 506 Notebooks - Notes, itinerary: Shanghai to New York 193	35
b. 49, f. 506 Notes in Chinese n.d	d.
b. 49, f. 506 Notes on Minnesota Pastors' Conference 196	62
b. 49, f. 507 Collected programs - Sermons of Dr. J. Wilbur Chapman of the Chapman-Alexander Evangelistic Mission, Brooklyn, NY, Feb 1-28; Tercentenary Celebration of the King James Version of the Bible, Carnegie Hall, NY, Apr 25	11
b. 49, f. 508 Wesley College - PGH's Honorary Doctor of Divinity Degree 194	49 Jun 10
b. 50, f. 509 Financial records - Travel expense account: Shanghai to NY 193	35
b. 50, f. 509 Cash books 195	50-1983
Ma 198	70 Jul-1972 ay, 1983 Sep- 85 Nov, 1985 ov-1988 Oct
b. 50, f. 512-513 Financial statements 198	86,1988, 1989
5.56, 1.512 515 Timanela State Mentes	
	.1950s-1980s
b. 50, f. 514 Record book of contributions (alphabetically arranged by organization) ca.	.1950s-1980s 80, 1982
b. 50, f. 514 Record book of contributions (alphabetically arranged by organization) ca. b. 50, f. 515 Tithing accounts 198	
b. 50, f. 514 Record book of contributions (alphabetically arranged by organization) ca. b. 50, f. 515 Tithing accounts 198	80, 1982 87 Apr 15
b. 50, f. 514 Record book of contributions (alphabetically arranged by organization) ca. b. 50, f. 515 Tithing accounts 198 b. 50, f. 516 Power of Attorney Papers (PGH HWH) 198 b. 51, f. 517 Glass slides (incl. slides of China, Calvary Methodist Church announcements, n.d. Christmas carols)	80, 1982 87 Apr 15

Helen Wolf Hayes

Helen Wolf Hayes (continued)

b. 52, f. 518	Diploma from Hartford Seminary Foundation, Kennedy School of Missions	1921 May 25
b. 52, f. 519	Notes class paper on Chinese literature while studying under Dr. Hodous, American Sinologue	1943
b. 52, f. 520	Class notes	n.d.
b. 52 , f. 521	Class notes on Christian doctrine, Chinese language	n.d.
b. 52, f. 522	Notes for China talks	1944, 1970, n.d.
Zac	hariah T. Hayes (father of PGH)	
b. 52, f. 523	History of the First Methodist Episcopal Church of Lancaster, PA, 1807-1893	1893
b. 52, f. 523	Directory of the Philadelphia Conference of the Methodist Episcopal Church	1889
	Elsie Hayes Landstrom	
b. 52, f. 524	Collected research material re. Wuhu, China	1932-1989, n.d.
b. 52, f. 525	Ms. by Ella C. Shaw on opening of Nanking Mission, given to EHL by Lucile Libby	n.d.

Series V: Photograph albums, 1890-1949

Nine photograph albums are chronologically arranged.

b. 53 Album 2: "Ross Street Methodist; Marriage to Mary Zwally; B.U. School of Theology; Linden Malden Methodist; Fremont Congregational" b. 54 Album 3: "Drew and Cross Country; SS Korea Maru; Helen; Nanking Language School; Peking; Wedding; Kuling; Wuhu; Elsie Rhoda" b. 54 Album 4: "Years at Ichishan Wuhu; S.S. Saarbruecken Ports; Shanghai to Genoa; Genoa to London; RMS Majestic to NYC" b. 55 Album 5: "Union; Columbia Univ.; Clinton; Windsor Locks; Hartford Seminary; Hartford to Vancouver; SS Empress of Canada" b. 55 Album 6: "Chinkiang Ichishan Wuhu; Summers on Kuling; Kiangsi; Lindberg; Stamm; Smith; Lois Anne born 11/8/31; Farewell after 14 years" b. 56 Album 7: "SS Saarbrucken: Shanghai, Suez, Bremen; SS Europa to New York; Simpson Meth., Mpls.; Columbus; Washington" b. 56 Album 8: "Calvary Mpls and Fire; Mother Wolf; Rollin and Barbara Wolf; Summer trips to East; NY World's Fair 1940" b. 57 Album 9: "McCabe Meth. Bismark, ND; Four summers in Mpls, Yellowstone, Glacier; Elsie married; Cheney; Sister Rhoda on trips"	b. 53	Album 1: "558 N. Queen, Lancaster, PA; First Methodist Church; Water Street Mission; Franklin Marshall Coll.; Ross Street Methodist"	1890-1917
School; Peking; Wedding; Kuling; Wuhu; Elsie Rhoda" b. 54 Album 4: "Years at Ichishan Wuhu; S.S. Saarbruecken Ports; Shanghai to Genoa; Genoa to London; RMS Majestic to NYC" b. 55 Album 5: "Union; Columbia Univ.; Clinton; Windsor Locks; Hartford Seminary; Hartford to Vancouver; SS Empress of Canada" b. 55 Album 6: "Chinkiang Ichishan Wuhu; Summers on Kuling; Kiangsi; Lindberg; Stamm; Smith; Lois Anne born 11/8/31; Farewell after 14 years" b. 56 Album 7: "SS Saarbrucken: Shanghai, Suez, Bremen; SS Europa to New York; Simpson Meth., Mpls.; Columbus; Washington" b. 56 Album 8: "Calvary Mpls and Fire; Mother Wolf; Rollin and Barbara Wolf; Summer trips to East; NY World's Fair 1940" b. 57 Album 9: "McCabe Meth. Bismark, ND; Four summers in Mpls, Yellowstone, 1941-1949	b. 53		1917-1921
b. 55 Album 5: "Union; Columbia Univ.; Clinton; Windsor Locks; Hartford Seminary; 1925-1928 Hartford to Vancouver; SS Empress of Canada" b. 55 Album 6: "Chinkiang Ichishan Wuhu; Summers on Kuling; Kiangsi; Lindberg; 1928-1935 Stamm; Smith; Lois Anne born 11/8/31; Farewell after 14 years" b. 56 Album 7: "SS Saarbrucken: Shanghai, Suez, Bremen; SS Europa to New York; 1935-1936 Simpson Meth., Mpls.; Columbus; Washington" b. 56 Album 8: "Calvary Mpls and Fire; Mother Wolf; Rollin and Barbara Wolf; Summer trips to East; NY World's Fair 1940" b. 57 Album 9: "McCabe Meth. Bismark, ND; Four summers in Mpls, Yellowstone, 1941-1949	b. 54		1921-1923
b. 55 Album 6: "Chinkiang Ichishan Wuhu; Summers on Kuling; Kiangsi; Lindberg; 1928-1935 Stamm; Smith; Lois Anne born 11/8/31; Farewell after 14 years" b. 56 Album 7: "SS Saarbrucken: Shanghai, Suez, Bremen; SS Europa to New York; 1935-1936 Simpson Meth., Mpls.; Columbus; Washington" b. 56 Album 8: "Calvary Mpls and Fire; Mother Wolf; Rollin and Barbara Wolf; Summer 1936-1941 trips to East; NY World's Fair 1940" b. 57 Album 9: "McCabe Meth. Bismark, ND; Four summers in Mpls, Yellowstone, 1941-1949	b. 54		1923-1925
Stamm; Smith; Lois Anne born 11/8/31; Farewell after 14 years" b. 56 Album 7: "SS Saarbrucken: Shanghai, Suez, Bremen; SS Europa to New York; 1935-1936 Simpson Meth., Mpls.; Columbus; Washington" b. 56 Album 8: "Calvary Mpls and Fire; Mother Wolf; Rollin and Barbara Wolf; Summer 1936-1941 trips to East; NY World's Fair 1940" b. 57 Album 9: "McCabe Meth. Bismark, ND; Four summers in Mpls, Yellowstone, 1941-1949	b. 55		1925-1928
Simpson Meth., Mpls.; Columbus; Washington" b. 56 Album 8: "Calvary Mpls and Fire; Mother Wolf; Rollin and Barbara Wolf; Summer 1936-1941 trips to East; NY World's Fair 1940" b. 57 Album 9: "McCabe Meth. Bismark, ND; Four summers in Mpls, Yellowstone, 1941-1949	b. 55		1928-1935
b. 57 Album 9: "McCabe Meth. Bismark, ND; Four summers in Mpls, Yellowstone, 1941-1949	b. 56		1935-1936
	b. 56		1936-1941
	b. 57		1941-1949

Selected Search Terms

The following terms have been used to index the description of this collection in the Library's online catalog. They are grouped by name of person or organization, by subject or location, and by occupation and listed alphabetically therein.

Subjects

Missionaries Missions -- China

Names

Hayes, Helen Wolf Hayes, Paul G. Landstrom, Elsie H.

Corporate Body

Methodist Episcopal Church -- Missions -- China